2000

# Holmes Development, LLC v. Paul Cook, an individual, Cook Development, LC, a Utah Limited Liability Company, and First American Title Insurance Company, a California Corporation : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

## **I. STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

Holmes Development, LLC (“Holmes”) appeals two orders by the trial court that collectively dismiss Holmes’ Complaint with prejudice and grant summary judgment on behalf of defendants First American Title Insurance Company (“First American”), Paul Cook and Cook Development, LC (hereinafter collectively referred to as “Cook”). Judge J. Dennis Frederick of the Third Judicial District Court signed and entered a Summary Judgment order on behalf of First American on May 18, 2000. (R. at 261-265; see also Addendum, Exhibit A.) Thereafter, on August 2, 2000, a Summary Judgment order, signed by Judge Frederick on July 28, 2000, was entered granting summary judgment on behalf of Cook. (R. at 266-269; see also Addendum, Exhibit B.) The August 2, 2000 order disposed of all remaining issues, claims and parties. Therefore, certification pursuant to Rule 54(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure was not necessary. Holmes timely filed its Notice of Appeal with the trial court on August 24, 2000. (R. at 270-271.) The Utah Supreme Court has jurisdiction over Holmes’ appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(j) (1953 as amended) by virtue of the above referenced proceedings.

## **II. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW AND STANDARD OF REVIEW**

As to the trial court's ruling and order granting First American's Motion to Dismiss or in the Alternative for Partial Summary Judgment, Holmes presents the following three issues for review.

1. Did First American's efforts to defend Holmes' title by preparing a faulty Special Warranty Deed that fueled litigation adverse to Holmes' title and that required litigation and a corrective affidavit to validate constitute "appropriate action" under the terms of the Policy of Title Insurance and did the trial court err when it resolved this question of fact in First American's favor through summary judgment? (R. at 85-92; T. at 27-28.)

2. Did the trial court err in rejecting Holmes' arguments that First American assumed additional contractual duties beyond those associated with the issuance of a title insurance policy and that First American's subsequent successful defense of Holmes' title pursuant to First American's title insurance obligations does not immunize First American's breach of those additional contractual duties? (R. at 85-92; T. at 28-29.)

3. Did the trial court err in denying Holmes' Motion to amend its complaint in response to First American's Motion to Dismiss given the fact that

leave should be freely granted pursuant to Rule 15 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. (R. at 92; T. at 27.)

As to the trial court's ruling and order granting Cook's Motion to Dismiss or in the Alternative for Summary Judgment, Holmes presents the following three issues for review.

1. Did the trial court err in ruling that First American's successful defense of Holmes' title rendered the provisions of the Indemnity Agreement signed by Cook moot and inapplicable and that the defense of Holmes' title also retroactively cured Cook's breach of the warranties made in the deeds they signed and released them from their contractual obligations outlined in the Indemnity Agreement? (R. at 235-240; T. at 31.)

2. Did the trial court err in ruling that the economic loss rule bars Holmes' recovery even though the Indemnity Agreement signed by Cook entitles Holmes to recover the damages it sustained as a result of Cook's breach of the warranties and contractual obligations established by the deeds and the Indemnity Agreement signed by Cook? (R. at 240-244; T. at 31-32.)

3. Did the trial court err in denying Holmes' Motion to amend its Complaint in response to Cook's Motion to Dismiss (R. at 245; T. at 27) given the

fact that leave should be freely granted pursuant to Rule 15 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure? (R. at 245; T. at 27.)

On appeal, the question of whether or not summary judgment is appropriate is a question of law. Consequently no deference is given to the trial court's decision and legal conclusions are reviewed for correctness. Wilson v. Valley Mental Health, 969 P.2d 416, 418 (Utah 1998); Klinger v. Kightly, 791 P.2d 868 (Utah 1990). The trial court's findings of fact are given deference and reviewed under a clearly erroneous standard keeping in mind that the facts and all inferences reasonably drawn from those facts must be viewed in a light most favorable to Holmes as the non-moving party. Bountiful v. Riley, 784 P.2d 1174 (Utah 1989); see also Owns v. Garfield, 784 P.2d 1187, 1188 (Utah 1989). The question of whether or not the trial court erred in denying Holmes' motion to amend its Complaint is governed by an abuse of discretion standard. Westley v. Farmer's Insurance Exch., 663 P.2d 93 (Utah 1983).

### **III. DETERMINATIVE STATUTES**

There are no statutes, rules, constitutional provisions, regulations or ordinances that are determinative of the issues presented for review. The trial court relied, in part, on the economic loss rule, in dismissing Holmes' claims to the extent Holmes relies on negligence or tort-based causes of action. Also, the

case of Culp Construction Company v. Buildmart Mall, 795 P.2d 650 (Utah 1990) was cited by First American in support of its claims that its successful defense of Holmes' title immunized First American from its own mistakes in failing to discover the defect in Cook Development's title.

#### **IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

##### **Nature of the Case, the Course of Proceedings, and its**

##### **Disposition in the Trial Court**

On October 20, 1999 Holmes filed a Complaint against defendants Paul Cook, Cook Development and First American. (R. at 1-20.) Holmes sued these defendants for negligence, breach of contract, breach of warranty, negligent misrepresentation and indemnification.<sup>1</sup> (R. at 1-20.) Holmes' claims against First American arise out of First American's unquestionable malpractice and errors in first creating and then failing to properly discover, disclose and remedy a serious defect in title to land Holmes purchased from Cook Development. Holmes sued Cook for breach of warranty and for indemnification pursuant to an Indemnity Agreement signed by Cook at the time the transaction was consummated. (R. at 1-20.)

---

<sup>1</sup>The indemnification claim applies only to Cook. (R. at 17.)

Defendants each responded to Holmes' Complaint by filing motions to dismiss. (R. at 23-77; 159-213.) Defendants' arguments focused primarily on First American's successful defense of Holmes' title in litigation hostile to Holmes and the economic loss rule. Judge J. Dennis Frederick of the Third Judicial District Court treated each motion to dismiss as a motion for summary judgment because matters outside the pleadings were considered. By a Minute Entry Ruling dated April 11, 2000, Judge Frederick granted summary judgment on all claims against all defendants. (R. at 255-256.) A Summary Judgment order on behalf of First American was entered by the trial court on May 18, 2000. (R. at 261-265; see also Addendum, Exhibit A.) A second Summary Judgment order granting summary judgment on behalf of Cook was entered by the trial court on August 2, 2000. (R. at 266-269; see also Addendum, Exhibit B.) Holmes timely filed its Notice of Appeal with the trial court on August 24, 2000. (R. at 270-271.)

#### **A. STATEMENT OF FACTS**

1. In 1993, Cook purchased two tracts of land east of Heber City, Utah with the intention of developing and selling residential building lots. Cook developed a portion of the property focusing his efforts primarily on the largest tract of land consisting of approximately 323 contiguous acres. By 1997, the first

phase of the development, known as Lake Creek Farms, was nearly sold out. (R. at 3, ¶¶ 8-12.)

2. Due to financial difficulties, Cook eventually associated with a partner by the name of Premier Homes (“Premier”). Premier promised to infuse the project with new cash flow. (R. at 3, ¶¶ 9-16.)

3. Cook and Premier jointly formed two limited liability companies, Lake Creek Farms, LLC and Lake Creek Associates, LLC. Cook Development and Premier were the only members of these two new entities and the property consisting of the unsold lots and undeveloped property remaining in Lake Creek Farms was deeded to the new LLCs. Thereafter, Lake Creek Farms, LLC owned the 323 acre parcel and Lake Creek Associates, LLC owned a smaller 73 acre parcel that was not part of the pending development plans. (R. at 4, ¶¶ 17-22.)

4. Eventually, Cook and Premier parted ways. According to Cook, Premier and Cook Development agreed that Lake Creek Farms, LLC and Lake Creek Associates, LLC would each transfer their respective ownership interests in the Lake Creek Farms’ property to Cook Development.<sup>2</sup> (R. at 5, ¶¶ 23-25.)

---

<sup>2</sup>In order to accomplish this transfer, it would be necessary for Lake Creek Farms, LLC to convey the 323 acre parcel to Cook Development and Lake Creek Associates would likewise need to convey the 73 acre parcel to Cook Development as well.

5. In furtherance of that agreement, Cook hired First American to prepare two deeds wherein Lake Creek Farms, LLC and Lake Creek Associates, LLC would convey title in the 323 and 73 acre parcels back to Cook Development. (R. at 5, ¶ 26; 80, ¶ 1.)

6. First American prepared two quit claim deeds. Unfortunately, both deeds identified Lake Creek Associates, LLC as the grantor, including the deed for 323 acre parcel that was actually owned by Lake Creek Farms, LLC. Cook and First American failed to discover this error and Cook immediately sought and obtained new interim financing through Clark Real Estate. First American again handled the closing of the Clark Real Estate loan, prepared and recorded a trust deed and issued title insurance in that context. First American did not discover its own error at that time. (R. at 6, ¶ 30-38; 80, ¶ 2-3; 116-117.)

7. In April of 1998, Holmes agreed to purchase the unsold lots and property remaining in Lake Creek Farms.<sup>3</sup> (R. at 183-188.) Part of Holmes' obligations included paying off the Clark Real Estate loan. Thereafter, Holmes closed the sale and Cook Development conveyed the 323 and 73 acre parcels to Holmes by way of a Warranty Deed. First American prepared all closing

---

<sup>3</sup>Holmes agreed to purchase both the 323 acre parcel as well as the smaller and undeveloped 73 acre parcel.



documents, deeds, settlement statements and otherwise acted as the escrow agent for the transaction. (R. at 8, ¶ 44; 82, ¶ 7-10.)

8. In connection with Holmes' purchase, Cook signed an Indemnity Agreement. Cook executed the Indemnity Agreement on May 19, 1998 at the closing. (R. at 180-181; see also Addendum Exhibit C.) The Indemnity Agreement states in relevant part:

(a) Any and all claims that arise from, or are in any way related to, Seller's acquisition, ownership or development of the Covered Property prior to the date of this Agreement, except for those claims covered by the title insurance policy to be purchased pursuant to the Purchase Agreement;

(b) Any damage, loss or deficiency resulting from any misrepresentation, breach of warranty or nonfulfillment of any covenant or agreement on the part of Cook Development under any agreement or any other document executed in connection with Holmes purchase of the Covered Property; and

(c) All actions, suits, proceedings, demands, settlements, assessments, judgments, costs, investigation expenses, interest, penalties, legal fees and expenses incident to the transactions between Cook Development and Holmes or involving or in connection with the Covered Property.

(R. at 180; see also R. at 8, ¶ 46, 180, 233-244; T. at 31; Addendum, Exhibit C.)

9. On May 19, 1998, Holmes and Cook also executed a "Modification and Extension Agreement" (the "Extension Agreement"). Cook makes representations and warranties in the Extension Agreement similar to those made

in the Warranty Deed. The Extension Agreement states in relevant part as follows:

Seller hereby represents and warrants that it has full legal and equitable title to the Property, subject only to the liens, charges, restrictions or encumbrances either of record or disclosed in the Original Agreement.

(R. at 194, ¶ 3; 233, ¶¶ 3-4; T. at 31.)

10. First American prepared the Warranty Deed whereby Cook attempted to convey its purported ownership interest in the 323 and 73 acre parcels to Holmes. (R. at 8, ¶ 46.) First American also prepared the closing documents, recorded the Warranty Deed and handled all aspects of the closing. First American charged fees for each of these services. (R. at 119-121; T. at 28-29) Additionally, First American issued a title insurance commitment report and a Policy of Title Insurance (the “Policy”) on behalf of Holmes and charged a separate fee to issue that Policy. (R. at 81, ¶ 4; 140-46; 196; 233, ¶ 5.)

11. Unfortunately, Cook Development did not possess title to the 323 acre parcel it tried to convey to Holmes even though Cook made numerous statements through written warranties expressed in the Warranty Deed, the Indemnity Agreement and the Extension Agreement that it was the owner of the 323 acre parcel. (R. at 194, 233, ¶ 1; 234, ¶ 6.)

12. Holmes immediately began developing Phase VIIA of the project in anticipation of selling lots in the coming spring of 1999.<sup>4</sup> In furtherance of that goal, Holmes obtained financing from Bank One of Utah (“Bank One”). Bank One approved Holmes for a substantial seven figure loan and submitted the closing of that loan and the preparation of a trust deed to First American’s Salt Lake City office.<sup>5</sup> (R. at 9, ¶ 47-49; 82, ¶ 8; 234, ¶ 7.)

13. In examining title for the Bank One loan, First American discovered the error in the deed from Lake Creek Associates, LC to Cook Development purporting to convey the 323 acre parcel to Cook Development and upon which Cook Development and Holmes relied when Cook attempted to convey title to Holmes. (R. at 9, ¶ 50.)

14. Recognizing its mistakes, First American first attempted to cure the fatal defect in Holmes’ title by asking Premier to sign a new deed. Premier

---

<sup>4</sup>Due to the short building season in Wasatch County, the prime selling season for residential building lots is in the spring. Purchasing a lot in the spring leaves enough time for the owner and builder to build a home, or at least frame and roof the home, before the weather worsens in the fall. For reasons that will become apparent below, the inability of Holmes to sell or even market lots during the spring of 1999 was a devastating blow to the momentum of the project and resulted in lost sales, lost profits and significant cash flow problems for Holmes.

<sup>5</sup>First American’s Heber City office handled all prior transactions including most of the closings of individual lot sales, the preparation of trust deeds and documents associated with interim financing obtained by Cook after it purportedly received title back from the two LLCs and the preparation of deeds and documents associated with Holmes’ purchase. (R. at 6, ¶¶ 27-29.)

refused. Thereafter, and at First American's request, Paul Cook signed a Special Warranty Deed in an effort to effectuate the transfer of the 323 acre parcel from Lake Creek Farms, LC to Holmes.<sup>6</sup> (R. at 9, ¶¶ 51-54; 82, ¶ 9; 123.)

15. Unfortunately, First American erred again in preparing the Special Warranty deed from Lake Creek Farms, LC to Holmes.<sup>7</sup> Instead of having Paul Cook sign the deed on behalf of Cook Development in its capacity as a member of Lake Creek Farms, LC, First American prepared the Deed showing Paul Cook signing the Special Warranty Deed in his individual capacity. However, Paul Cook was not a member of Lake Creek Farms, LC and had no authority as an individual to convey any real property owned by Lake Creek Farms, LC. (R. at 10, ¶¶ 55-58; 82, ¶ 10.)

16. Holmes thereafter closed the loan with Bank One and invested the loan proceeds in the development of Phase VIIA. In November, 1998, Premier, as

---

<sup>6</sup>The preparation of the Special Warranty Deed is an implicit admission by First American that the Warranty Deed it prepared that was designed to convey title from Cook Development to Holmes was worthless and ineffective. To this day, title vests in Holmes through the Special Warranty Deed, not the Warranty Deed. (R. at 199-213.) However, even the Special Warranty Deed was negligently prepared and required litigation and a corrective affidavit before it was validated by the trial court in litigation adverse to Holmes' title.

<sup>7</sup>It is interesting to note that First American's efforts with the Special Warranty Deed represented a conveyance from an entity (Lake Creek Farms, LC) that was not a party to Holmes purchase from Cook and that had no relationship with Holmes, contractual or otherwise.

a member of and on behalf of Lake Creek Farms, LC, conveyed the 323 acre parcel to Keystone Development (“Keystone”). Keystone promptly recorded a lis pendens against the 323 acre parcel and initiated a quiet title action (the “Keystone litigation”) in the Fourth Judicial District Court. (R. at 11, ¶¶ 61-62, 64.)

17. Keystone named as defendants Holmes, Paul Cook, Cook Development, First American and Bank One. Pursuant to the obligations imposed on it by virtue of the Policy issued to Holmes and a similar policy issued to Bank One, First American hired local counsel to defend all of the named defendants in the Keystone lawsuit. (R. at 11, ¶¶ 63, 65; 83, ¶ 14.)

18. In an effort to defend Holmes’ title and correct First American’s mistake in the Special Warranty Deed, defense counsel prepared a corrective affidavit wherein Paul Cook states that he intended to sign the Special Warranty Deed in his capacity as the managing member of Cook Development and that Cook Development intended to convey the 323 acre parcel to Holmes on behalf of Lake Creek Farms, LC of which Cook Development was a member along with Premier. (R. at 130-137; 84, ¶ 19.)

19. Defense counsel recorded Paul Cook’s affidavit with the Utah County Records Office and filed the same in the Keystone litigation. (R. at 130-137.) Paul Cook’s affidavit was later referred to and relied on by defense counsel and

the Fourth District Court to determine Paul Cook's intent in signing the Special Warranty Deed in spite of First American's error in identifying Paul Cook as signing in his individual capacity.<sup>8</sup> (R. at 84, ¶ 19; 130.)

20. The Fourth Judicial District Court entertained oral argument on motions for summary judgment filed by the respective parties in the Keystone litigation. The Honorable Judge Fred Howard eventually granted summary judgment on behalf of Holmes and the other defendants and entered an order quieting title in Holmes and releasing the lis pendens recorded by Keystone. (R. at 63-77.) The summary judgment order was signed by Judge Howard on June 29, 1999. (R. at 68.)

21. During the pendency of the Keystone litigation Holmes could not market the Lake Creek Farms development and could not sell a single lot due to

---

<sup>8</sup>The issue of Paul Cook's intent when he signed the special warranty deed and in what capacity he signed the same was a major issue in the Keystone litigation. As can be seen by the Summary Judgment Order signed by the Honorable Judge Fred D. Howard, (R. at 63-77), the major focus of Judge Howard's ruling was whether or not Paul Cook had the authority to convey the 323 acre parcel to Holmes on behalf of Lake Creek Farms, LC. That very question turned on the Utah Limited Liability Company Act and the issue of in what capacity Paul Cook was acting when he signed the Special Warranty Deed. Paul Cook's affidavit established his intent to sign on behalf of Cook Development as a member of Lake Creek Farms, LC, rather than in his individual capacity. (R. at 63-77.) The Keystone court specifically ruled that there was no dispute as to the fact that Paul Cook intended to convey the property to Holmes in the Special Warranty Deed Cook signed on September 3, 1998. (R. at 64-66.) This conclusion was possible because of Paul Cook's affidavit and that fact that Keystone failed to offer any evidence to the contrary or create a dispute as to any material facts associated with Paul Cook's intentions.

the lis pendens filed and recorded by Keystone and because of the obvious defect in Holmes' title, a defect that Keystone exploited in its quiet title action. (R. at 12, ¶ 68.)

22. Holmes continued making interest payments to Bank One in connection with the loan Holmes procured from Bank One in September of 1998, even though it could not generate any cash flow from lot sales so long as Keystone's lis pendens was in effect. (R. at 12, ¶ 69.)

23. Because the selling season for Wasatch County is short, Holmes lost the prime selling season, including the spring of 1999, and suffered damages in the form of lost profits and lost sales, not to mention the fact that Holmes continued to outlay funds to pay for the property and make interest payments on its loan with Bank One. (R. at 12, ¶'s 70-71; 235, ¶ 9.)

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