2000

Holmes Development, LLC v. Paul Cook, Cook Development, and First American Title Insurance Company : Brief of Appellee

Utah Supreme Court

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

Holmes' alleged injuries began in November 1998, two months after First American cured Holmes' title problems. Holmes' injuries were the direct result of Premier's and Keystone's sham real estate transaction and Keystone's non-meritorious lawsuit against Holmes. Having rectified all title problems by September 1998, First American bore no responsibility for the subsequent actions of Premier and Keystone. Holmes has failed to provide any justification for its failure to sue Keystone and/or Premier, the parties responsible for its alleged losses. Under no circumstances, however, should First American be held liable for the damages that they caused. The district court

properly granted summary judgment to First American on all of Holmes' claims, and its judgment should be affirmed.

II. FIRST AMERICAN FULFILLED, AS A MATTER OF LAW, ANY AND ALL DUTIES OWED TO HOLMES.

Because Holmes' injuries were not caused by First American, it should be unnecessary for the Court to address Holmes' allegations concerning the specific duties owed by First American. As shown below, however, Holmes has failed to demonstrate the breach of any existing duty owed from First American to Holmes.

A. The Facts Were Undisputed that First American Fully Complied with Its Duties Under the Policy.

In May 1998, First American provided Holmes with the Policy of title insurance. (R. 49-55). On the occurrence of a covered title defect, the Policy permitted First American "to institute and prosecute any action or proceeding or to do any other act which in its opinion may be necessary or desirable to establish the title to [Holmes'] estate or interest, as insured." (R. 50, ¶ 4(b) (emphasis added)).

First American first became aware of a title defect in July 1998. To rectify that defect, First American immediately approached Cook Development and Premier about executing a new Quit Claim Deed relating to the 323 acres. (R. 9, ¶ 51). When Premier refused to execute the new Quit Claim Deed, First American considered the options available. Pursuant to the Policy, First American could have instituted and prosecuted an action against Premier for reformation of the Quit Claim Deed. Instead, however, it opted to do "another act" to avoid a legal battle with Premier and effectively convey the property to Holmes. That "other act" was the conveyance of the 323-acre parcel by

Special Warranty Deed directly to Holmes. By September 1998, less than two months after the defect was discovered, the Special Warranty Deed had been executed and delivered. As recognized by the court in the Keystone litigation, this deed was a “valid and binding conveyance of the [P]roperty” to Holmes. (R. 66).⁴

The Special Warranty Deed should have been the end of the problem.

Unfortunately, Premier and Keystone decided to raise further problems for Holmes. On November 25, 1998, with full knowledge of the Special Warranty Deed and of the rightful ownership of the Property by Holmes, Premier and Keystone participated in a sham conveyance of the 323-acre parcel, and Keystone instituted a quiet title action against Holmes. (R. 11, ¶¶ 62-63). Again, First American acted diligently under the Policy. Within two weeks of notice of Keystone’s claims, First American hired counsel to defend Holmes. (R. 45, ¶¶ 18-19). Within 8 months, counsel had obtained summary judgment against Keystone which reconfirmed what all parties knew at the outset—that Holmes was the rightful owner of the Property. (R. 45, ¶¶ 11-13 & R. 63-67).

Having cleared the title defect in September 1998, and having favorably resolved the non-meritorious Keystone lawsuit by June of 1999, First American had fully complied with the terms of the Policy. Significantly, Holmes acknowledged to the trial

⁴ In its brief, Holmes suggests that First American breached the Policy because the Special Warranty Deed “opened the door” to the Keystone litigation. This argument is not supported by any evidence and is contrary to the finding of the court in the Keystone litigation. The Keystone court concluded on summary judgment that the Special Warranty Deed was a “valid and binding conveyance of the [P]roperty” to Holmes. (R. 66). The form of the deed was of no concern to the Keystone court as evidenced by the court’s Summary Judgment order. (R. 63-68) Contrary to Holmes’ claims, the central issue before the court in the Keystone litigation was not the form of the Special Warranty Deed, but the legal question concerning Cook’s ability to execute that deed on behalf of Lake Creek Farms. *Id.* The Keystone court resolved any and all issues concerning the Special Warranty Deed in favor of Holmes on summary judgment. In light of this fact, Holmes cannot complain about that deed.

court that First American acted diligently to resolve Keystone's non-meritorious claims. (R. 87). Pursuant to the Policy, having "establishe[d] title, [and] removed the alleged defect . . . all as insured, in a reasonably diligent manner by any method . . . [First American] fully performed its obligations with respect to the matter and [was not thereafter] liable for any loss caused thereby." (Policy, R. 50-51, ¶ 9(a)). The district court properly recognized this fact and granted summary judgment on Holmes' claims. This decision should be affirmed on appeal.

B. Holmes Presented the Trial Court with No Evidence that First American Breached Any Duty to Holmes Outside of the Policy.

Recognizing that it could not support a breach of contract claim under the Policy, Holmes asserted various negligence and third party beneficiary claims against Holmes in its unverified Complaint. In its briefing on summary judgment, Holmes then argued in very general terms that First American breached other duties to Holmes outside the duties set forth in the Policy.⁵ Although an insurer may undertake separate duties apart from obligations owed under an insurance policy,⁶ First American did not breach any such duties in this case. Significantly, Holmes did not present the trial court with an affidavit or any other proof that First American had undertaken or breached any additional duties to Holmes. Having failed to present such evidence to the trial court, Holmes cannot complain about the court's grant of summary judgment. See, e.g., Thayne v. Beneficial Utah, Inc., 874 P.2d 120, 124-125 (Utah 1994) (affirming summary judgment because

⁵ First American supported its motion for summary judgment with the Affidavit of Blake T. Heiner in which Mr. Heiner outlined First American's contractual duties to Holmes and its compliance with those duties. (Heiner Affidavit, R. 44-77).

⁶ See generally, Culp Construction Co. v. Buildmart Mall, 795 P.2d 650 (Utah 1990).

opposing party failed to “meet his burden of presenting some evidence, by affidavit or otherwise, raising a credible issue of material fact.”).

1. **First American did not breach any duty to Holmes relating to its preparation of the warranty deed from Cook Development to Holmes.**

Holmes points to the May 1998 Warranty Deed from Cook Development to Holmes as one of the instruments creating an additional duty to Holmes. Holmes claims that when First American undertook to draft the Warranty Deed, it undertook the additional responsibility of abstracting the title to the Property. In making this argument, Holmes does not rely upon any express agreement by First American to provide abstracting services. In fact, no such services were requested by Holmes.⁷

Because it could not point to any express agreement from First American for abstracting services, Holmes makes the legal argument that “one cannot prepare a deed expressly designed to convey title with warranties without taking on abstractor liability.” (Appellants brief, p. 28). Holmes does not, however, support this legal proposition with any cases or other legal authorities.⁸ There is simply no support in Utah for the proposition that one who drafts a deed automatically undertakes abstractor liability.

⁷ If Holmes had requested abstracting services, those services would have been reflected in the Settlement Statement at closing. The Settlement Statement contained a space for fees relating to an “Abstractor or title search.” This item is blank on the form used at closing. (R. 120). It should also be noted that Holmes paid nothing to First American for its services in drafting the Warranty Deed. The Settlement Statement also contains a space for “Document preparation” which is left blank. (R. 120).

⁸ Holmes also argues that when First American prepared the various deeds in this case, it was participating in the unauthorized practice of law. First American does not agree with that proposition and notes that many courts have held otherwise. See, e.g., State Bar of New Mexico v. Guardian Abstract and Title Co., Inc., 575 P.2d 943, 949 (N.M. 1978) (preparation of statutory forms of deeds not unauthorized practice of law). In any event, however, Holmes has not cited the Court to any authority for the proposition that lawyers who prepare deeds undertake abstractor liability. That is simply not the case. Therefore, whether deed preparation is characterized as the practice of law or not is irrelevant in this dispute.

In the final analysis, Holmes does not, and cannot, contend that there was anything wrong with the form or content of the Warranty Deed. The Warranty Deed as drafted would have accomplished the passage of title from Cook Development to Holmes but for the defect in the original Quit Claim Deed. Had the original Quit Claim Deed accurately named the grantor, the Warranty Deed would have conveyed title to Holmes.

If Holmes had intended to obtain abstracting services from First American, it could have specifically requested and paid for those services. Instead, Holmes did what many purchasers of property do today. It requested and received title insurance from First American. The Policy entitled Holmes to have its title cured in the event of any defects and to a defense in the event that its title was challenged. First American cured the problem with the Quit Claim Deed and diligently defended Holmes against the spurious claims of Keystone. Holmes got what it bargained and paid for.

2. First American did not breach any duty to Holmes relating to its assistance with the closing.

Holmes suggests that by assisting with the closing and acting as the escrow agent for the transaction, First American undertook additional responsibilities to Holmes and that First American breached those duties. Holmes does not, however, point to any activities performed by First American in connection with its closing or escrow services that were somehow negligent or caused any harm to Holmes. It points to no problems with the closing or with the escrow, because none exists.⁹

⁹ Holmes refers the Court to New West Fed. Sav. and Loan Assoc. v. Guardian Title Company of Utah, 818 P.2d 585, 588 (Utah Ct. App. 1991), in which it was undisputed that Guardian Title had undertaken express responsibilities to the plaintiff in connection with the escrow and then breached those responsibilities. Id. Holmes has not, and cannot, point to any similar facts in this case.

Instead, Holmes again argues that by undertaking to help close the transaction, First American automatically agreed to abstract the chain of title and discover the error in the original Quit Claim Deed. Once again, Holmes sites no authority for this proposition and none exists.

3. **First American did not breach any duty to Holmes relating to its preparation of the Special Warranty Deed.**

Holmes argues that by drafting the Special Warranty Deed, First American undertook additional responsibilities to Holmes, and breached those duties. Holmes' arguments concerning the Special Warranty Deed fail for two reasons. First, as shown above, First American's efforts with respect to the Special Warranty Deed clearly fell within its rights and responsibilities under the Policy. First American was entitled to "do any other act which in its opinion [was] necessary or desirable to establish the title to [Holmes'] estate or interest, as insured." (Title Policy, ¶ 4(b), R. 50). First American prepared the Special Warranty Deed as the means by which to correct the defects with Holmes' title.

Second, and most importantly, the Keystone court determined as a matter of law that the Special Warranty Deed effectively conveyed title to Holmes. The Keystone court ruled that the Special Warranty Deed was a "valid and binding conveyance of the [P]roperty" to Holmes. (R. 66). Therefore, Holmes could have no legitimate complaint concerning that deed.

Holmes never alleged any facts to show that First American breached any of its duties under the Policy or that it assumed and breached any other duties outside of the

Policy. Therefore, the trial court properly granted summary judgment in favor of First American.

III. HOLMES' FAILURE TO ADEQUATELY BRIEF EACH OF THE GROUNDS RELIED UPON BY THE TRIAL COURT IN AWARDING SUMMARY JUDGMENT CONSTITUTES A WAIVER AND AN ABANDONMENT OF THOSE GROUNDS ON APPEAL.

It is a well settled principle of appellate review that issues not briefed by an appellant are deemed waived and abandoned and will not be considered by the appellate court. See Brown v. Glover, 16 P.3d 540 (Utah 2000); see also Langeland v. Monarch Motors, Inc., 952 P.2d 1058, 1063 n.5 (Utah 1998); see also American Towers Owners Assoc., Inc. v. CCI Mechanical, Inc., 930 P.2d 1182, 1185 (Utah 1996).

If an appellant raises an issue in the notice of appeal, but does not meaningfully discuss or analyze that issue in their appellate brief, the appellate court will not consider the issue and will affirm the trial court on that issue. See Utah v. Vigil, 922 P.2d 15, 25 (Utah 1996); see also Pixton v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Ins. Co., 809 P.2d 746, 751 (Utah Ct. App. 1991). Rule 24, Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, requires the appellant, in its opening brief, to include “[a] statement of the issues presented for review.” Utah R. App. P. 24(a)(5). The rule requires the appellant to provide argument containing the “contentions and reasons of the appellant with respect to the issues presented.” Id. at 24(a)(9).

A brief must contain support for each contention. Rukavina v. Triatlantic Ventures, Inc., 931 P.2d 122, 125 (Utah 1997); Walker v. U.S. General, Inc., 916 P.2d 903, 908 (Utah 1996). This requires that each argument contain the contentions of the

appellant with citations to the authorities, statutes and parts of the record relied on. Id. Where an issue is not properly briefed—or where, as here, it is not addressed at all—the appellate court should decline to address the issue. See Sperry v. Sperry, 990 P.2d 381, 383 (Utah 1999); Rukavina, 931 P.2d at 125; Walker, 916 P.2d at 908; State v. Wareham, 772 P.2d 960, 966 (Utah 1989). This Court has repeatedly recognized that the appellant must adequately raise and argue each issue in its appellate brief and may not “dump the burden of argument and research” on the Court. State v. Jaeger, 973 P.2d 404, 410 (Utah 1999).

Holmes had failed to address three of the five independent grounds on which the trial court awarded summary judgment to First American. Although the district court dismissed Holmes’ negligence and negligent misrepresentation claims on the basis of the economic loss rule, Holmes has not addressed this issue. Although the trial court dismissed Holmes’ negligent misrepresentation claim on the additional ground that First American could not, as a matter of law, have expected Holmes to rely upon any of its conduct with respect to the Quit Claim Deeds, Holmes had not addressed this issue. Finally, although the trial court dismissed Holmes’ third party beneficiary claim on the ground that First American and Cook did not, as a matter of law, intend to confer an enforceable benefit upon Holmes in March of 1998, Holmes does not address this issue. All of these grounds were briefed by the parties to the court below.

Holmes’ failure to address these issues violates Rule 24 and constitutes a waiver and abandonment of any challenge of the district court’s ruling on these questions. It is not sufficient for Holmes to raise them in its reply brief. See Trial Mountain Coal Co. v.

Utah Division of State Lands and Forestry, 921 P.2d 1365, 1371 n.11 (Utah 1996), cert. denied, 519 U.S. 1142 (1997) (stating that argument raised for the first time in a reply brief is deemed waived); see also Larson v. Overland Thrift and Loan, 818 P.2d 1316, 1321 n.5 (Utah Ct. App. 1991), cert. denied, 832 P.2d 476 (Utah 1992). This Court should affirm summary judgment on these unchallenged issues.

IV. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY REJECTED HOLMES' REQUEST TO AMEND ITS COMPLAINT.

The district court rejected Holmes' request for leave to amend its Complaint on the ground that, "[t]o the extent that Holmes moved for leave to amend its complaint, its motion is denied because Holmes failed to present facts that would be necessary to state a legally sufficient claim." (Summary Judgment, ¶ 5, R. 264). The district court was not persuaded that Holmes' request, set forth in the body of its memorandum without a Rule 15 motion, was adequate. Moreover, even if construed as a Rule 15 motion, the trial court was not persuaded that Holmes could present facts necessary to state a claim for relief.

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